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  PREFACE


  
    _______________________
  


  Garret FitzGerald


  During the ninety years since the 1916 Rising so much has been written about that seminal event that a potential reader might be tempted to react sceptically to yet a further work on the subject. ‘Is there any more to be said at this stage about the Rising?’ he or she might be tempted to exclaim.


  This book of historical essays triumphantly rebuts any such presumption – and indeed leaves enough issues for further research, analysis and debate to show that in history there is never a last word.


  In the brief space permitted to me here I cannot attempt to review all of these essays, many of which deal with issues that, so far as I am aware, have not previously been addressed.


  Amongst these is Adrian Hardiman’s cogent exposé of the illegality of the post-Rising court martials which were established, he points out, under the Defence of the Realm Act, and thus were subject to law – rather than operating under martial law, which he quotes the Duke of Wellington as having said ‘was neither more nor less than the will of the general who commands the army … [which] means no law at all.’


  Another such piece is that by Séamus Murphy on ‘Easter ethics’, which seeks to apply just war theory to the Rising. It is difficult to refute his basic thesis that the Rising failed to meet several key criteria of just war theory. But he goes on to give six grounds for believing that the Rising was ethically wrong, and several of these depend upon an assertion that the War of Independence that followed from the Rising was ‘extraordinarily unnecessary, given that what the Treaty achieved was not that different from what the home rule legislation had achieved’. This is a remarkable statement upon which to base an argument about what he sees as the futility of the Irish struggle for independence. For home rule as enacted left Britain in control of peace and war for Ireland, with the British army remaining on Irish territory, and the levying of customs duties retained in British hands. Moreover, any Irish home rule government would have had very limited taxation powers, which would have precluded Ireland from setting its own corporate tax rate, as Northern Ireland is still precluded from doing, to the visible distress today of its business and political leaders.


  Given the strategic importance of Ireland for Britain until the end of the Cold War, there is no reason to believe that Britain would have allowed a home rule Ireland to move peacefully to independence much before the end of the twentieth century – whereas the independent state won by the War of Independence, with its own Irish army replacing British forces on its territory, had secured unfettered sovereignty by 1931, and was free thereafter to evolve at its own pace, and without British opposition, into a republic outside the Commonwealth. Independence, moreover, gave the Irish state the power to develop its economy, in part at Britain’s expense, by devising a competitive corporate tax system which played a key role in generating economic growth, eventually at three times Britain’s own growth rate.


  Séamus Murphy can legitimately argue a case against the morality of 1916 in ‘just war’ terms, and he can make a case that the price paid for independence, in terms of a seventy year legacy of sporadic violence, was a high one – but he weakens these arguments by attempting to minimise the huge difference between the independence secured in 1921 and what home rule would have offered.1


  Owen McGee attempts to sort out the roles played in the organisation of the Rising on the one hand by key members of what became known as the ‘Military Committee’ – initially Pearse, Plunkett and Ceannt, later joined by Seán MacDermott, and later still by Connolly – and on the other by the IRB leaders Clarke and, once again, MacDermott. The evidence supports his thesis that a key role in preparing the Rising was in fact played by MacDermott, and that Pearse’s emergence as the hero of the affair was largely fortuitous, reflecting his oratorical and PR skills – skills which, it appears, led Clarke to invite him first to speak at the O’Donovan Rossa funeral and then to read the Proclamation outside the GPO.


  Both of these points would have been given even more weight had Dr McGee cited Denis McCullough’s account of the circumstances in which he became president of the IRB; a significant event, no reference to which, curiously, is included in his contribution to this book.2 This appointment appears to have been motivated by a desire by Clarke and MacDermott, respectively treasurer and secretary of that secret organisation, to have the IRB presidential role exercised a good physical distance away from Dublin, where they were preparing the Rising. In this connection it is important to understand that, together with the president, these two constituted the executive of the IRB – and that under its constitution the decision of any two of these three officials was binding on its members!


  When in late 1915 McCullough told MacDermott that he intended to propose Pádraig Pearse as president of the IRB, to replace John Mul-holland who had resigned, MacDermott dismissed the idea, saying: ‘For the love of God, don’t be stupid, don’t be foolish!’ ‘Why? Isn’t he an excellent man?’ asked McCullough. ‘We never could control that bloody fellow,’ MacDermott replied – adding, in relation to the presidency of their organisation, that he and Clarke would ‘get all that fixed’. Later he told McCullough that they had chosen him for the job, which he accepted under protest.


  The fact that ultimately MacDermott rather than Clarke was responsible for the decision to ignore MacNeill’s countermanding order also emerges from McCullough’s account. For, having been given reason to believe that the Rising was imminent despite his not having been given the agreed fortnight’s warning, McCullough hurried to Dublin, and finally tracked down a deliberately elusive MacDermott at Clarke’s house two days later, on Easter Sunday night. On arrival there he asked Clarke what was going to happen. ‘I declare to God,’ Clarke replied, ‘I know nothing more than you do. All I know is that I have orders to report to Daly on Sunday morning and have my arms and equipment ready.’


  Owen McGee also brings out the very contingent nature of the declaration of a republic in the GPO – a declaration that later played such a key role in the Treaty ‘split’ and subsequent civil war. He explains that when ‘Clarke announced in the GPO that a republic was going to be proclaimed, [he thought it necessary in order to impress world opinion] many Irish Volunteers were apparently surprised, presumably because, as members of the Irish-Ireland generation, most had never expressed any interest in republicanism, an ideology generally associated with the supposedly “priest-eating” republic of France’ – which, apart from the anomalous case of Switzerland, was, of course, the only non-monarchy in Europe at that time.


  The unfamiliarity, and indeed improbability, of the idea of a republic to most people at that time was reflected a day or two later in the easy assumption by Pearse and Plunkett – when discussing with my father, Desmond FitzGerald, the possible future of Ireland if Germany won the war – that our new state too would be a monarchy, perhaps under such a figure as the Kaiser’s sixth son, Joachim, whom they believed to be unmarried, and thus available to marry a Catholic and bring his children up as Irish-speaking Catholics.3 (Understandably, perhaps, they were unaware that Joachim had in fact married a Protestant princess just six weeks earlier).


  In his paper on The Catholic church, the Holy See and the 1916 Rising’ Dermot Keogh, despite some reservations about Owen McGee’s account in his recent book as to who was and was not an IRB member, believes that ‘Dr McGee’s general thesis has validity’.4 In that contribution to this book Professor Keogh has deployed to good effect his familiarity with the historical relationship between the Holy See and Ireland, and with the role played by members of the Irish hierarchy, especially in the aftermath of the Rising, giving what must be the definitive account of these matters.


  Another important paper challenges conventional wisdom on an important issue. Rory O’Dwyer, in his ‘The golden jubilee of the 1916 Easter Rising’, rejects the view promoted by Conor Cruise O’Brien in 1981 that the 1966 commemorations witnessed an ‘explosion of nationalist sentiment’ that produced ‘the greatest orgy ever of the cult of the Rising’.5 O’Dwyer notes that this opinion was echoed in 1994 in less dramatic terms by Dermot Keogh: ‘What the celebrations did was to sensitise the Irish public and allow for greater uncritical receptivity to the message of physical force nationalism.’6


  O’Dwyer concludes his comprehensive, and I think convincing, review of the events of that golden jubilee year with these words:



  
    The scale of the commemoration in 1966 is unlikely ever to be equalled, nor the level and quality of historical scholarship produced at the time to be exceeded. The high level of nationalist feeling in the period was generally harnessed in a very positive fashion, whereas republican militant sentiment was effectively curtailed. With much state ceremony the ‘ghost’ of 1916 was laid to rest in a dignified and respectful tribute. It was now time to move on.

  


  Conor Cruise O’Brien, then at the peak of his radical period, used that occasion to accuse all Irish governments of betraying what he described as the revolutionary tradition of Tone, Pearse and Connolly, and he concluded correctly, and with apparent regret, that ‘Connolly’s Republic is as far off as ever’.7


  For my part, at that time I was certainly very alive to the negative consequences of 1916. I wrote in the quarterly Studies about the subsequent death by violence of so many people: policemen, jurymen doing their duty, landlords, and a cabinet minister, Kevin O’Higgins, as well as many members of the IRA – not to speak of the demoralisation that followed these political divisions of the Civil War, the perpetuation of out-worn hatreds, as well as the inferiority complex, the destructive xenophobia and the inverted snobbery that had derived from the period of British rule – all of which under different and less violent circumstances might have gradually faded away in the decades after independence.


  Consequently, I felt in 1966 that it was not too surprising that as the years had passed a reaction against 1916 had set in. Public attitudes to the Rising had become more critical, particularly as the propagandists for extreme nationalism had alienated the sympathies of many young people and had contributed to growing cynicism about the national movement of 1916 and the years that had followed. The case for 1916 had, I felt, been allowed to go by default, and so I went on to make what seemed to me, forty years ago, to be an already neglected case in favour of the Rising.


  I argued that nothing that had happened over the fifty years since that event had proved – or even given strong grounds for believing – that the men of 1916 had been wrong in their conviction that in the years leading up to the Rising a sense of Irish national identity had been ebbing away, and needed a powerful catalyst to revive it. If they were right in this, I concluded, then anyone who believed that Ireland as an independent national entity had something to offer the world, and that the Irish people could do more for themselves and for their neighbours by self-reliant control of their own affairs, within whatever international framework might emerge in the increasingly inter-dependent world of the second half of the twentieth century, must acknowledged a debt to the leaders of 1916.


  Recognising, of course, that others may legitimately take a different view of the balance of good and evil consequences of the Rising, I recall these views here because they demonstrate that at least to one observer in 1966 the situation we seemed to be facing at that time was not that the commemoration of the Rising risked reviving extreme nationalism but rather that already at that time there was a need to be reminded of the case to be made in favour of 1916.


  Of course some may feel that the violence that broke out in Northern Ireland soon after that commemoration, and which lasted for almost thirty years thereafter, gave a measure of retrospective validation to Conor Cruise O’Brien’s 1981 view of the golden jubilee. But retrospective views – being wise after the event – is not history; and on the facts of what happened during the golden jubilee that year I believe Rory O’Dwyer’s analysis of those events stands up to scrutiny better than Conor Cruise O’Brien’s.


  A particular strength of this book is the inclusion of three papers on the neglected issue of 1916-related events external to Ireland. One of these – the paper by Keith Jeffery on The First World War and the Rising: mode, moment and memory’ – does the very useful historical job of putting Pearse’s militarism into its contemporary context, showing how much he was a man of his time in his ‘sanguine vision’, one that to us, several generations away from that Europe, seems so strange and off-putting. Jérôme aan de Wiel’s ‘Europe and the Irish crisis, 1900–17’ sets 1916 in its wider European context, and raises the little discussed question of whether the concluding stages of the home rule crisis in July 1914 may, perhaps, have encouraged Germany to engage militarily with France as well as Russia in the belief that, at that moment, Britain was too racked by internal conflict to come to France’s aid. Finally, Francis M. Carroll’s ‘America and the 1916 Rising’ throws new light on the role that the Irish in the United States played in the preparations for that event.


  The other essays throw new light upon such issues as the deep pre-Rising antipathy between the Irish party and those who were preparing that event, as well as upon the evolution of Irish party attitudes to that event during the rest of the year 1916; the role of the Ulster Volunteers in stimulating the foundation of the Volunteers in the south; that of censorship and propaganda in the run-up to and aftermath of the Rising; Constance Markievicz’s triple feminist, labour and republican roles; the Easter mobilisation of the Volunteers in Cork; and an overview of the recent commemorations of the ninetieth anniversary of the Rising. The book also publishes for the first time the contemporary account written by Monsignor Michael Curran (the representative of Archbishop Walsh who was ill at the time) of his experiences and contacts during and just after the Rising.


  Finally, President McAleese’s remarks in Cork at the conference that gave rise to this book – an address that, somewhat surprisingly I felt as a member of the audience on that occasion, led to some controversy at the time – provides a fitting opening to this rich historical feast.


  INTRODUCTION


  
    _________________________________________

  


  Gabriel Doherty, Dermot Keogh


  It is no coincidence that commemorations of major historical events usually incorporate both popular and academic elements. The process of reflection to which such anniversaries give rise provide a valuable public service, in that they stimulate open debate. In the popular sphere the forms in which such debates are conducted include public addresses, newspaper supplements, television and radio documentaries, symposia, and, in some cases, feature films that reach a mass, sometimes global, audience. At an academic level, too, such events are also a stimulus to activity. It is often the case that commemorations are the spur to the publication of invaluable collections of original source material, full scale biographies, or minutely researched monographs.


  Commemorations also stimulate the production of edited volumes of scholarly essays, which subject the events or individuals under review to the findings of the latest historiography. Such publications serve as a convenient forum for the dissemination of academic debates, producing considered, competing and, at times, conflicting assessments by historians and others.1 Ireland has been no exception to this rule, and over the last decade – which has seen, amongst many other events, commemorations of the Great Famine, the 1798 rebellion, and the Act of Union – worthy edited volumes on these and other topics have appeared on public bookshelves.2


  Given that previous anniversaries of the Easter Rising have also been marked in this way it might reasonably be asked whether any useful purpose will be served by the addition of another tome to this small but highly distinguished corpus.3


  Not surprisingly the editors of this volume believe the answer to this question is a resounding yes, the reasons for which relate to the circumstances of its origin. Its genesis is to be found in the conference 'The long revolution: the 1916 Rising in context', hosted by the Department of History, University College Cork, on 27–8 January 2006, to mark the ninetieth anniversary of the 1916 Easter Rising. The conference was generously supported by the Commemorations Initiatives Fund of the Department of the Taoiseach, the Conference Fund of the College of Arts, Celtic Studies and Social Sciences, University College Cork, and by the Department of History, University College Cork.


  The event attracted a great deal of media attention, largely in response to the opening address, ‘1916 – a view from 2006’, which was delivered by President McAleese. It is clear, such was the vigorous nature of this response, that the speech ranks among the most important to have been delivered on the subject of the state’s origins by a sitting President in recent decades. For that reason the editors are delighted to be able to reproduce the text in full herein.


  The conference, however, encompassed far more than the President’s speech, central and significant though it undoubtedly was. The range of topics addressed by the other speakers – covering international, national and local dimensions of the Rising, and aspects of its intellectual, legal and symbolic legacy – and the informed question-and-answer sessions that followed each paper, ensured that the event was both an instructive and enjoyable affair. That certainly seems to have been the consensus of the 200-plus members of the public who were in attendance.


  In answer, therefore, to the question as to the justification for the volume, there is an on-going, manifest public demand for the supply of reliable, informed opinion on the Rising. There is no doubt that the event continues to interest, fascinate, in some cases inspire and in others repel, large numbers of Irish people – witness the extraordinary degree of public engagement with, and involvement in, the various events held throughout the year to mark its ninetieth anniversary.


  Given both the public level of interest in the Rising manifested over the past twelve months and its signal importance for the Irish polity, it is incumbent on those with a professional interest in the field to offer informed opinion in a timely, and appropriate, fashion. It is the view of the editors that the volume does just that.


  Spanning the worlds of academia, politics, and the law; drawing on the expertise of both established scholars and their younger counterparts; building on previous research on the subject and utilising newly-available archival material, and revisiting old controversies and (perhaps) generating new ones, the volume will, we feel sure, make a worthy contribution to this much-discussed, and oft-misunderstood, event.


  The work is made up of three intermingled elements, which vary greatly in length. The first comprises the eight papers delivered at the original conference, suitably revised to render them appropriate for publication. The second contains the seven papers that have been commissioned by the editors for inclusion in the volume. The third element is a single text. It contains relevant extracts from the Witness Statement given by Fr Michael Curran (secretary to William Walsh, archbishop of Dublin at the time of the Rising) to the Bureau of Military History, whose recently opened files have been one of the most welcome additions to the Irish historical scene in many years. It is included here as an exemplar of the new, previously under-utilised, or unreleased material upon which much of the analysis in the rest of the volume is based.


  A word or two is in order regarding the title of the volume. It is the considered view of the editors that the events of 1916 can best be understood, neither as a starting point (though it clearly gave the republican cause a momentum that it had previously lacked) nor as a terminus (crucial though it undoubtedly was, for example in the subsequent collapse of the Irish party), but rather as a decisive turning point in the history of Ireland over the longue durée . Quite clearly the roots of the Rising went as deep as its harvest was abundant, and both the build-up to, and legacy of, the event are covered here.


  The volume does not aspire to being a comprehensive history of the Rising, and there are obvious omissions. Of these the cause of Labour is the most significant (a consequence of the speed with which the volume has been produced, and the demands upon the prospective contributor’s time, rather than wilful exclusion). Rather it seeks to identify and probe key interpretative issues associated with the event, with a view to stimulating debate in these (and other) areas in the build-up to the centenary of the Rising. As such the editors are confident that it will appeal to both popular and academic audiences.


  1916 – A VIEW FROM 2006


  
    ____________________

  


  Mary McAleese


  How glad I am that I was not the mother of adult children in January 1916. Would my twenty year old son and his friends be among the tens of thousands in British uniform heading for the Somme, or would they be among the few, training in secret with the Irish Republican Brotherhood, or with the Irish Volunteers? Would I, like so many mothers, bury my son this fateful year in some army’s uniform, in a formidably unequal country where I have no vote or voice, where many young men are destined to be cannon fodder, and women, widows? How many times did those men and women wonder what the world would be like in the longer-run as a result of the outworking of the chaos around them, this context we struggle to comprehend these years later? I am grateful that I, and my children, live in the longer-run; for while we could speculate endlessly about what life might be like if the Rising had not happened, or if the Great War had not been fought, we who live in these times know and inhabit the world that revealed itself because they happened.


  April 1916 and the world is as big a mess as it is possible to imagine. The ancient monarchies, Austria, Russia and Germany, which plunged Europe into war, are on the brink of violent destruction. China is slipping into civil war. On the western front, Verdun is taking a dreadful toll and, in the east, Britain is only weeks away from its worst defeat in history. It’s a fighting world where war is glorified and death in uniform seen as the ultimate act of nobility, at least for one’s own side.


  And on 24 April 1916, it was Easter Monday in Dublin, the second city of the extensive British empire which long included, among its captured dominions, the four provinces of Ireland. At four minutes past noon, from the steps of Dublin’s General Post Office, the President of the Provisional Government, Pádraig Pearse, read the Proclamation of independence.


  The bald facts are well known and reasonably non-contentious. Their analysis and interpretation has been both continuous and controversial ever since. Even after ninety years a discussion, such as we are embarked upon here, is likely to provoke someone. But in a free and peaceful democracy, where complex things get figured out through public debate, that is as it should be.


  With each passing year, post-Rising Ireland reveals itself and we who are of this strong independent and high-achieving Ireland would do well to ponder the extent to which today’s freedoms, values, ambitions and success rest on that perilous and militarily-doomed undertaking of nine decades ago, and on the words of that Proclamation. Clearly its fundamental idea was freedom, or in the words of the Proclamation ‘the right of the people of Ireland to the ownership of Ireland’ but it was also a very radical assertion of the kind of republic a liberated Ireland should become. ‘The Republic guarantees religious and civil liberty, equal rights and equal opportunities to all its citizens and declares its resolve to pursue the happiness and prosperity of the whole nation and all of its parts cherishing all of the children of the nation equally.’ It spoke of a parliament ‘representative of the whole people of Ireland and elected by the suffrages of all her men and women’ – this at a time when Westminster was still refusing to concede the vote to women on the basis that to do so would be to give in to terrorism. To our twenty first century ears these words seem a good fit for our modern democracy. Yet ninety years ago, even forty years ago, they seemed hopelessly naïve, and their long-term intellectual power was destined to be overlooked, as interest was focussed on the emotionally-charged political power of the Rising and the renewed nationalist fervour it evoked.


  In the longer-term the apparent naïveté of the words of the Proclamation has filled out into a widely-shared political philosophy of equality and social inclusion in tune with the contemporary spirit of democracy, human rights, equality and anti-confessionalism. Read now in the light of the liberation of women, the development of social partnership, the focus on rights and equality, and the ending of the special position of the Catholic church to mention but a few, we see a much more coherent, and wider-reaching, intellectual event than may have previously been noted.


  The kind of Ireland the heroes of the Rising aspired to was based on an inclusivity that, famously, would cherish ‘all the children of the nation equally … oblivious of the differences which have divided a minority from the majority in the past’. That culture of inclusion is manifestly a strong contemporary impulse working its way today through relationships with the north, with unionists, with the newcomers to our shores, with our marginalised, and with our own increasing diversity.


  For many years the social agenda of the Rising represented an unrealisable aspiration; until now that is, when our prosperity has created a real opportunity for ending poverty and promoting true equality of opportunity for our people and when those idealistic words have started to become a lived reality and a determined ambition.


  There is a tendency for powerful and pitiless elites to dismiss with damning labels those who oppose them. That was probably the source of the accusation that 1916 was an exclusive and sectarian enterprise. It was never that, though ironically it was an accurate description of what the Rising opposed.


  In 1916 Ireland was a small nation attempting to gain its independence from one of Europe’s many powerful empires. In the nineteenth century an English radical described the occupation of India as a system of ‘outdoor relief ’ for the younger sons of the upper classes. The administration of Ireland was not very different, being carried on as a process of continuous conversation around the fire in the Kildare Street Club by past pupils of minor public schools. It was no way to run a country, even without the glass ceiling for Catholics.


  Internationally, in 1916, planet earth was a world of violent conflicts and armies. It was a world where countries operated on the principle that the strong would do what they wished and the weak would endure what they must. There were few, if any, sophisticated mechanisms for resolving territorial conflicts. Diplomacy existed to regulate conflict, not to resolve it.


  It was in that context that the leaders of the Rising saw their investment in the assertion of Ireland’s nationhood. They were not attempting to establish an isolated and segregated territory of ‘ourselves alone’ as the phrase ‘sinn féin’ is so often mistranslated, but a free country in which we ourselves could take responsibility for our own destiny, a country that could stand up for itself, have its own distinct perspective, pull itself up by its bootstraps, and be counted with respect among the free nations of Europe and the world.


  A Google search for the phrase ‘narrow nationalism’ produces about 28,000 results. It is almost as though some people cannot use the word ‘nationalism’ without qualifying it by the word ‘narrow’. But that does not make it correct.


  I have a strong impression that, to its enemies, both in Ireland and abroad, Irish nationalism looked like a version of the imperialism it opposed, a sort of ‘imperialism lite’ through which Ireland would attempt to be what the great European powers were – the domination of one cultural and ethnic tradition over others. It is easy to see how they might have fallen into that mistaken view, but mistaken they were. Irish nationalism, from the start, was a multilateral enterprise, attempting to escape the dominance of a single class and, in our case a largely foreign class, into a wider world. Those who think of Irish nationalists as narrow miss, for example, the membership many of them had of a universal church which brought them into contact with a vastly wider segment of the world than that open to even the most travelled imperial English gentleman. Many of the leaders had experience of the Americas, and in particular of North America with its vibrant attachment to liberty and democracy. Others of them were active participants in the international working class movements of their day. Whatever you might think of those involvements, they were universalist and global rather than constricted and blinkered.


  To the revolutionaries, the Rising looked as if it represented a commitment to membership of the wider world. For too long they had chafed at the narrow focus of a unilateral empire which acted as it saw fit and resented having to pay any attention to the needs of others. In 1973 a free Irish republic would show by joining the European Economic Community that membership of a union was never our problem but, rather, involuntary membership of a union in which we had no say.


  Those who are surprised by Ireland’s enthusiasm for the European Union, and think of it as a repudiation of our struggle for independence, fail to see Ireland’s historic engagement with the European continent and the Americas. Arguably Ireland’s involvement in the British Commonwealth up to the dominion conference of 1929 represents an attempt to promote Ireland’s involvement with the wider world even as it negotiated further independence from Britain. Éamon de Valera’s support for the League of Nations, our later commitment to the United Nations and our long pursuit of membership of the Common Market are all of a piece with our earlier engagements with Europe and the world which were so often frustrated by our proximity to a strong imperial power – a power which feared our autonomy, and whose global imperialism ironically was experienced as narrowing and restrictive to those who lived under it. We now can see that promoting the European ideal dovetails perfectly with the ideals of the men and women of 1916.


  Paradoxically in the longer-run, 1916 arguably set in motion a calming of old conflicts with new concepts and confidence which, as they mature and take shape, stand us is in good stead today.


  Our relationship with Britain, despite the huge toll of the Troubles, has changed utterly. In this, the year of the ninetieth anniversary of the Rising, the Irish and British governments, co-equal sovereign colleagues in Europe, are now working side-by-side as mutually respectful partners, helping to develop a stable and peaceful future in Northern Ireland based on the Good Friday Agreement. That agreement asserts equal rights and equal opportunities for all Northern Ireland’s citizens. It ends forever one of the Rising’s most difficult legacies, the question of how the people of this island look at partition. The constitutional position of Northern Ireland within the United Kingdom is accepted overwhelmingly by the electorate north and south. That position can only be changed by the electorate of Northern Ireland expressing its view exclusively through the ballot box. The future could not be clearer. Both unionists and nationalists have everything to gain from treating each other with exemplary courtesy and generosity, for each has a vision for the future to sell, and a coming generation, more educated than any before, freer from conflict than any before, more democratised and globalised than any before, will have choices to make and those choices will be theirs.


  This year, the ninetieth anniversary of the 1916 Rising, and of the Somme, has the potential to be a pivotal year for peace and reconciliation, to be a time of shared pride for the divided grandchildren of those who died, whether at Messines or in Kilmainham.


  The climate has changed dramatically since last September’s historic announcement of IRA decommissioning. As that new reality sinks in, the people of Northern Ireland will see the massive potential for their future, and that of their children, that is theirs for the taking. Casting my mind forward to ninety years from now I have no way of knowing what the longer-term may hold but I do know the past we are determined to escape from and I know the ambitions we have for that longer-term. To paraphrase the Proclamation, we are resolved to ‘pursue the happiness and prosperity of the whole island’. We want to consign inequality and poverty to history. We want to live in peace. We want to be comfortable with, and accommodating of, diversity. We want to become the best friends, neighbours and partners we can be to the citizens of Northern Ireland.


  In the hearts of those who took part in the Rising, in what was then an undivided Ireland, was an unshakeable belief that, whatever our personal political or religious perspectives, there was huge potential for an Ireland in which loyalist, republican, unionist, nationalist, Catholic, Protestant, atheist and agnostic pulled together to build a shared future, owned by one and all. That’s a longer-term to conjure with but, for now, reflecting back on the sacrifices of the heroes of 1916 and the gallingly unjust world that was their context, I look at my own context and its threads of connection to theirs. I am humbled, excited and grateful to live in one of the world’s most respected, admired and successful democracies, a country with an identifiably distinctive voice in Europe and in the world, an Irish republic, a ‘sovereign independent state’ to use the words of the Proclamation. We are where freedom has brought us. A tough journey, but more than vindicated by our contemporary context. Like every nation that had to wrench its freedom from the reluctant grip of empire, we have our idealistic and heroic founding fathers and mothers – our Davids to their Goliaths. That small band who proclaimed the Rising inhabited a sea of death, an unspeakable time of the most profligate world-wide waste of human life. Yet their deaths rise far above the clamour – their voices, insistent still.


  Enjoy the conference and the rows it will surely rise.


  
    EUROPE AND THE IRISH CRISIS,

    1900–17

  


  
    __________________________

  


  Jérôme aan de Wiel


  In 1988 Professor Dermot Keogh wrote: ‘The theme of Ireland and twentieth century Europe has not been tackled in any systematic way.’1 Sixteen years later, in 2004, Professor Joseph Lee emphasised this fact again: ‘The subject of Ireland’s relations with continental European countries in the twentieth century is a grossly neglected one.’2 Yet, as various diplomatic and military archives located in Berlin, Brussels, Freiburg, Paris, Rome and Vienna reveal, continental Europe was much interested in Ireland between the turn of the century and the end of the First World War. For a long time, Ireland was of interest to foreign powers opposed to England and then Britain. By occupying her they believed that the British would have to surrender. Spain tried first, followed by France, but all in vain.3 Even imperial Russia seemed to have had some interest, as a document in the French military archives shows that ‘a Franco-Russian landing in Ireland’ might have been contemplated in the summer of 1902 just after the Boer War, which had exposed serious weaknesses in the British army.4 When the Great War broke out in 1914, Germany’s turn to play the Irish card had come.


  The aims of this paper are to shed new light on Germany’s involvement in Ireland and also to analyse France’s reaction to the events in Dublin in 1916. Austria-Hungary had been interested in Ireland before the beginning of the hostilities in Europe. It would seem that Vienna bore in mind the home rule crisis in the summer of 1914 in the formulation of her disastrous policy towards Serbia that would ultimately lead to war. How was the news of the Easter Rising received in Vienna and Budapest? Also, the Vatican knew about two weeks beforehand the date of the Rising. What was Eoin MacNeill’s role in the events? The paper will also confirm that some British officials at the highest level took the decision to let the Rising happen intentionally in order to decapitate the republican movement. This is proven by the existence in the German archives of a document entitled Aufgabe P .


  The years between 1890 and 1907 saw some major realignments in the system of European alliances. Briefly, in 1892 a military alliance was signed between France and Russia. Owing to naval tensions between Britain and Germany, the Entente Cordiale between Britain and France saw the light in 1904. Eventually, the Anglo-Russian Agreement became a reality in 1907. The latter led to the formation of the so-called Triple Entente countries – Britain, France and Russia. It must be pointed out that the Entente and the Agreement the British signed were not military alliances, but from Germany and Austria’s perspective this constituted a strategic encirclement.5 From that moment onwards, the German leaders would try to drive a wedge between their rivals but their efforts were not successful. In a future war, which many statesmen and militaries expected sooner or later, the German general staff relied on the famous ‘Schlieffen Plan’, which consisted in first knocking out France before rapidly transferring all divisions to the east front to deal with the advancing Russian army.6 But the Germans were most preoccupied with the United Kingdom and its vast empire, which they considered to be their most dangerous enemy. Would the British interfere if Germany entered a war against France and Russia? This question bordered on the obsessive in Berlin. But did Britain not have a weak western flank, Ireland, which might be exploited or which might prevent her from entering a continental war? Germany was well aware that Ireland was rife with political tensions due to the nationalists’ struggle for home rule, which was opposed by unionists.


  Kaiser Wilhelm II of Germany was closely following the Irish crisis. He was personally informed by Dr Theodor Schiemann, a historian, who was corresponding with George Freeman.7 Freeman was a journalist who specialised in foreign affairs and was then working for the Gaelic American in New York, the newspaper owned by the Irish republican and Clan na Gael leader, John Devoy. Freeman and Schiemann had begun their correspondence in 1906 and had been put in touch with each other by a German editor working in Japan. Freeman had offered to work ‘against England’ [sic].8 Most of their correspondence concerned anti-British propaganda and occasionally work of a cloak-and-dagger nature. Once, Schiemann asked how many Irishmen were serving in the royal navy, the answer to which Freeman was not able to ascertain.9 Obviously the idea was to figure out whether Irishmen could be relied upon to disrupt the organisation of the royal navy.


  As for the Kaiser, he became more and more frustrated by Britain’s attitude towards Germany and more and more aggressive in his comments regarding Ireland. He was being kept up to date about the latest developments in the Irish crisis by reports from his embassy in London. When, on 14 September 1912, Richard von Kühlmann, the chargé d’affaires of the embassy, suggested that the crisis would weaken England as a world power because of the influence the Irish exercise in America, the Kaiser wrote in the margin: ‘That would be a great boon.’10 There was also some interaction between Germany and Austria-Hungary about Ireland. In August 1907 Chancellor Bernhard von Bülow sent a letter to Aloys von Aehrenthal, the powerful Minister of Foreign Affairs in Vienna, in which he explained that the British would probably not be involved in a European war lest uprisings should happen in Ireland and India. Bülow explained that this might be useful to know for Emperor Franz Josef before his scheduled meeting with King Edward VII.11 There was even more. In November 1908 the Irish nationalist Frank Hugh O’Donnell met the Austro-Hungarian ambassador, Count Albert von Mensdorff, in London. He had come to offer a plan of alliance between nationalist Ireland and Austria-Hungary designed to break the strategic encirclement imposed by the Triple Entente. Mensdorff thought that O’Donnell was ‘a little … eccentric’ but was sufficiently impressed to send a full report to Aehrenthal in Vienna. Interestingly, although the report was marked ‘secret’, the Austro-Hungarians passed it on to their German allies.12 The matter was entrusted to Dr Schiemann, who lost no time in contacting George Freeman in New York. Freeman, however, advised the Germans to have nothing to do with O’Donnell as he was not reliable.13


  It must be emphasised here that these early contacts between the Irish republicans and the Germans did not result in concrete measures. After all, when the war broke out in 1914 there were no risings in Ireland nor anywhere else in the British empire, except a short rebellion led by Christiaan de Wet in South Africa. Not even contingency plans had been thought out, something bitterly regretted by Freeman in 1915.14 The explanation of this lies probably in the fact that deep down the Germans still believed they could reach an agreement with the British and make sure that they would not interfere in a general war on the continent.


  The home rule crisis intensified when, in 1913, the unionists set up the Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF) and the nationalists retorted by establishing the Irish Volunteers. It now looked as if a large scale civil war was only a matter of time. The Ulster crisis attracted the foreign press, but not only journalists arrived in Ireland. Baron Georg von Franckenstein, from the Austro-Hungarian embassy in London, was among them, and his stay in the country became controversial.15 It should not be forgotten that the 25,000 rifles delivered to the UVF on the night of 24–5 April 1914 came from the Steyr armament factory in Upper Austria.16 The archives in Vienna reveal that Franckenstein wrote a report precisely on 24 April.17 This was a most striking coincidence to say the least and prompts the question as to what he was really doing in Ireland all the more since the report has since gone missing. It is unlikely to be ever recovered as vast amounts of secret files were destroyed in Vienna after the war.18 In 1939 Franckenstein published his memoirs in which he categorically denied any wrong-doing. The problem is that he seemed to have contradicted himself. In February 1913 he had been in India, and as he himself stated in his memoirs: ‘The purpose of my travels and stay in India was to study the general political situation and to ascertain what attitude the natives would adopt in a world war.’19 This was exactly what people accused Franckenstein of having done in Ireland. Similar accusations were levelled at Richard von Kühlmann of the German embassy, who was suspected of having gone on a secret mission to Ulster in the summer of 1914. Like Franckenstein, Kühlmann denied everything. The plot thickens here, however, as Margot Asquith, wife of the British Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, clearly remembered Kühlmann telling her that he had gone to Ulster.20 Both men’s roles remain cloaked in mystery.


  When the Austro-Hungarian Archduke Franz Ferdinand was assassinated in Sarajevo on 28 June 1914 by a young Serbian nationalist, serious tensions developed between Austria-Hungary and Serbia, involving the major European powers. Historians have named this the ‘July crisis’ during which politicians, diplomats and militaries were wondering who was going to do what. What was Ireland’s role in the unfolding events that would lead to the outbreak of the First World War? As seen, Germany was essentially obsessed by the position of the United Kingdom. As Professor A.T.Q. Stewart wrote in 1967: ‘The influence of the Irish crisis on German policy has generally been underestimated.’21 This continues to be the case today as the many books dealing with the outbreak of the war rarely take into account the Irish crisis. And yet there can be little doubt about the veracity of Professor Stewart’s assertion. Indeed, on 26 July 1914 the Belgian ambassador in Berlin, Baron Henri Beyens, wrote that Germany could now wage war ‘in extremely favourable circumstances’. Among the reasons he mentioned was the situation in the United Kingdom: ‘England … is paralysed by her internal dissensions and her Irish quarrels’.22 Beyens could not have known how right he was for on the very same day a British regiment opened fire on a nationalist crowd in Dublin after a gun-running operation for the Irish Volunteers at Howth. Four people died and forty were wounded. The incident became known as the Bachelor’s Walk massacre. The long-awaited civil war looked to be on its way. The next day Albert Ballin, the German ship owner and personal friend of the Kaiser, reported from London, where he had been sent to ascertain the political situation, that Britain’s reaction to Austria-Hungary’s ultimatum to Serbia had been very ‘mild’. He related it to the ‘present situation’.23 Undoubtedly, Ballin had the Irish crisis in mind.


  Still on 27 July Germany rejected a British offer of mediation emanating from Foreign Secretary Sir Edward Grey, and advised the Austro-Hungarians to also reject it.24 They took this piece of advice.25 Indeed, why should they accept the offer of a disunited United Kingdom? Besides, on 12 July, twelve days before the Austro-Hungarians’ fateful ultimatum to the Serbians, their ambassador in Berlin, Count Ladislaus Szögyény, had already informed them that the Germans thought that ‘above all, England is anything but bellicose at the moment’.26 In Britain politicians at the highest level and of all shades of opinion began to suspect that the Central Powers were taking into account the Irish crisis in the formulation of their policy. On 30 July Prime Minister Herbert Asquith secretly met his political opponents, Andrew Bonar Law (leader of the Conservative party) and Sir Edward Carson (leader of the Unionist party), somewhere in the suburbs of London. Bonar Law and Carson wanted the prime minister ‘to postpone for the time being the second reading of the Amending bill [which provided for the possible exclusion from home rule of certain Ulster counties] … in the interest of the international situation’. Asquith replied: ‘I agreed and read to them the latest telegrams from Berlin which, in my judgement, assume that the German government are calculating upon our internal weakness to affect our foreign policy.’ A short time later he met John Redmond, the leader of the Irish party, to whom he related his rather extraordinary meeting. Redmond ‘thought it an excellent chance of putting off the Amending bill’.27


  On 3 August 1914, when Germany declared war on France, Field Marshal Franz Conrad von Hötzendorf, the Austro-Hungarian commander in chief, wrote: ‘England’s attitude proves to be unfriendly and doubtful. To [our] military attaché [in London], it seems, however, that there is no desire for war for the time being, taking into account the Ulster crisis and the civil war.’28 To point out that Conrad and his military attaché were wrong, as there was no civil war, is to miss the point. What matters here is their interpretation, and this interpretation must have encouraged Conrad and others in persevering in their offensive against Serbia. That there was no civil war in Ireland was largely due to Redmond’s intervention in the House of Commons on 3 August when he put forward that the UVF and the Irish Volunteers would defend Ireland against a foreign (i.e. German) invasion. It can be safely said that Redmond spoiled Berlin and Vienna’s expectations. It also helps to explain why the British cabinet was so hesitant in committing itself to help France and Russia. On 1 and 2 August Grey had told the dismayed Russian and French ambassadors that it would be difficult to send a force of 100,000 British soldiers to the continent because of possible inner troubles in the United Kingdom.29 On 4 August, a genuinely United Kingdom declared war on Germany and, on 12 August, on Austria-Hungary. Ambassador Mensdorff had already warned Vienna on 3 August: ‘Navy and army are mobilised but there are still no decisions as to how they will be used. Enthusiastic adoption in parliament; approval of the opposition, including the two Irish parties.’30 As for Redmond, he later exhorted the Irish Volunteers to fight abroad. This provoked a division within the Volunteer movement and the expulsion of the pro-Redmond members from the Executive Committee. But only a few thousand rank and file members remained faithful to their leader and founder, Professor Eoin MacNeill. Within the ranks of these Irish Volunteers, secret members of the IRB were determined to rise against the British while they were fighting against the Germans; among them were Pádraig Pearse and Joseph Mary Plunkett.


  During the first months of the war in Europe, the Irish nationalist Roger Casement was busy negotiating an alliance with the German ambassador to the United States, Count Johann Heinrich von Bernstorff. Later Casement and Franz von Papen, the military attaché of the embassy, worked out the idea of setting up an Irish brigade composed of Irish prisoners of war detained in German camps.31 Bernstorff informed Berlin that Casement would arrive in Germany soon.32 What Bernstorff did not know, however, was that his messages were being intercepted by the British. On 5 August 1914 a team of British secret servicemen disguised as fishermen had cut the transatlantic cables between Germany and the United States. This forced the Germans to use other cables or use wireless that the British could either tap or intercept. It now became a question of being able to decode German messages. The British were blessed with extraordinary luck. On 11 August the Australian navy confiscated a codebook from a German ship, the crew of which had ignored the fact that war had been declared. On 6 September the Russians found a second codebook on a German battleship and sent it to London. Eventually, on 30 November, an English trawler found in its nets a third codebook! By that time the British had already cracked one of the German codes. A room in the admiralty in London became specialised in deciphering. It was the soon-to-be legendary room 40 under the command of Captain Reginald Hall.33 All this meant that communications between New York and Berlin would be intercepted, including the ones of the future Easter Rising.


  Roger Casement arrived in Berlin on 31 October 1914 after an eventful journey. He was introduced to several people in the ministry of Foreign Affairs. Dr Schiemann described to the Kaiser his meeting with Casement in most flattering terms: ‘The impression I got from Casement is extremely favourable. He is a real strength for our interests and is motivated by the hatred of English policy.’34 Casement then travelled to Charleville in occupied north east France where the German high command had its headquarters. There he exposed his plans regarding the formation of an Irish brigade the purpose of which was to participate in the liberation of Ireland. The commander in chief, General Erich von Falkenhayn, agreed to separate Irish prisoners of war from English and Scottish ones.35 This was hardly surprising as Falkenhayn believed that Britain was Germany’s main enemy; everything, therefore, should be undertaken to destabilise the British. A special camp was set up near Limburg an der Lahn, not too far away from Frankfurt am Main. As is well known, the whole operation was a fiasco. At the most fifty five men volunteered and they were not quality soldiers. Even Casement feared them and refused to let them attend mass in the local cathedral.36 As early as 25 January 1915 the military authorities in Frankfurt informed Berlin that the Irishmen in Limburg were mainly ‘urban working class scum who were physically and mentally most inferior’.37 Casement rapidly began to have doubts about the project and the sincerity of his German allies. In the words of his biographer, Angus Mitchell, ‘Hints of paranoia started to permeate his journal as his recruitment efforts floundered and his despondency with the war deepened.’38


  This failure was a let-down for Casement but not really for the Germans. Indeed, Ireland played no part at all in their overall strategy during 1914 and 1915. Before the war, in May 1914, Captain Blum of the submarine section had submitted a plan to turn Ireland into a submarine base, from where a trade war against Britain could be waged. Admiral von Tirpitz had been informed about the proposal.39 But in October 1914 Captain Schlubach questioned the strategic value of the Irish coast as he believed that all submarines needed to do was to block the entries of the harbours of Dublin and Belfast.40 Under these circumstances there was no need to set up bases. In fact the setting up of such bases made little sense as it would have necessitated the opening of supply lines between Germany and Ireland. This implied that the German navy would already have beaten the royal navy. If this was the case all the Germans had to do was to blockade Britain. The British would then have had to sue for peace with their army cut off from them in France. On 23 August Admiral Karl von Truppel pointed out: ‘A conclusive victory of our fleet, risings in Egypt, the Suez Canal, India and Africa are possibilities but no certain factors.’41 The fact that he had not mentioned Ireland was very relevant. It was little wonder that Casement became impatient and depressed.


  Back in Ireland, the small group within the IRB known as the Military Council became aware that the Germans had to be convinced of their intentions. By way of Spain, Italy and Switzerland, they sent Joseph Mary Plunkett to Berlin where he met Casement in April 1915.42 The two men produced an impressive thirty two page report, outlining the history of the Irish Volunteers, the strength of the British army in Ireland and the country’s strategic value.43 Not surprisingly, the Germans were not convinced by their arguments. The meetings between both men and the Germans appear to have been tense.44 Plunkett returned to Ireland without any specific German promises. Casement warned him that the Irish Volunteers should not attempt a rising without the support of the German army.45 It must be stressed that both men did their best to persuade their allies, but that they largely overestimated the abilities of the German navy.


  But at the beginning of 1916 events suddenly gathered momentum. In Dublin the secret Military Council decided to launch a rising on Easter Sunday, 23 April, for which German arms would be urgently required. On 5 February John Devoy received a message containing the Military Council’s decision. He lost no time in contacting Ambassador Bernstorff who in turn sent a coded message to Berlin on 16 February.46 The German general staff immediately offered to help. Why this sudden change of attitude towards Ireland? On 21 December 1915 General Erich von Falkenhayn had met the Kaiser to outline his new plan for a decisive offensive. He explained that Britain was the ‘archenemy’ and that France was ‘England’s tool on the continent’. He believed that the British would finance the war until Germany was beaten. According to him the best way to eliminate Britain was ‘to knock her best sword out of her hands’, in other words the French army. A major offensive would be directed against the French at Verdun. Simultaneously a new unrestricted submarine warfare campaign would be directed against British shipping even if this could provoke the United States into declaring war. The offensive would begin in February 1916.47 There was another major reason to deliver the knock-out blow to Britain. The first food riots had occurred in Berlin in October 1915 and had been caused by what the German population called the ‘hunger blockade’ imposed by the royal navy.48 In Falkenhayn’s mind, however strange this might sound, the offensive against Verdun was in fact part of a general offensive against Britain. If, besides this offensive and the new submarine campaign, a rising could also be fomented in Ireland, so much the better. So it was that the future Easter Rising became part of a wider offensive against Britain. This explains why the Germans suddenly agreed to help the Irish republicans after one and a half years of inactivity.


  The preparations for the Easter Rising in Germany are well known and do not need to be detailed here. Briefly, Casement was totally opposed to the gun-running project that consisted of sending only 20,000 old Russian rifles, 10 machine guns and 4,000,000 rounds of ammunition to the republicans in Ireland.49 Without the participation of German soldiers Casement believed that a rising would be a futile bloodbath. It is striking that German support for the proposed action was, to say the least, limited. It should be noted that by 1916 German industry was producing 250,000 quality rifles and 2,300 quality machine guns a month!50 It looked as if the general staff wanted to organise a low-cost expedition to Ireland. The reason for this was probably that it was still not totally convinced of the seriousness of the republicans’ intentions. On 21 March 1916 Captain Karl Spindler of the German navy was ordered to transport the arms to Tralee Bay, arriving between 20 and 23 April, where he would be met by an Irish pilot boat. Spindler left Lübeck on 9 April aboard the Aud , pretending to be a Norwegian fishing boat.51 As for Casement, he was finally allowed to leave Germany for Ireland aboard a submarine.52 The Germans’ decision remains most curious as they knew that he was against the Rising and that there was an obvious risk that he might try to prevent it.


  In London on 12 February 1916, Lord French, the commander in chief of the home forces, had a conversation with Augustine Birrell, the Irish chief secretary. Birrell told him that the Irish Volunteers were not much of a danger but that he would like to see them ‘get a real good “knock”’.53 Birrell’s remark might well have appealed to French, a man who favoured strong-arm tactics. In April 1918 he would advocate the bombing of Ireland by the royal air force in order to make her accept conscription.54


  Two months later, around 8 April, a most intriguing meeting took place in the Vatican. Count George Plunkett, a papal knight, had an audience with Pope Benedict XV. He had come to ask his blessing for the future rising. Indeed, some time before, Eoin MacNeill had explained that a rising was morally not justifiable. Pearse had then agreed but now knew that MacNeill had to be neutralised lest he should prevent the Rising. Therefore, MacNeill was not informed of its preparations until the very last moment.55 This is, at least, the official version. Because the republicans feared the possible negative reaction of the Irish Catholic church, it seems that it had been decided to send Plunkett to the Vatican to ask the pope for his opinion on the matter. Plunkett gave Benedict a long letter written in French, justifying the Rising and giving the date of its beginning. His audience lasted nearly two hours and nobody else was present. According to Plunkett, he was ‘deeply moved’ and, although he refused to bless the Rising, he did bless the republicans. Plunkett was also struck ‘with the Pope’s familiarity with the Irish cause, and the arguments put forward by England’. This was hardly surprising, as the nationalist-minded Monsignor Michael O’Riordan, the rector of the Irish College in Rome, regularly informed the pope of the latest developments in Ireland. It must also be borne in mind that the Vatican was not on friendly terms with Britain. The British had excluded the pope and the curia from the future peace negotiations in a secret treaty with Italy signed in 1915, the details of which the Vatican had soon obtained. But there was more. Plunkett said that he had been sent by Eoin MacNeill, which was also clearly stated in the letter. This would mean that, contrary to the commonly-held belief that MacNeill had been deceived by Pearse and others until the very last moment, he in fact knew about the future uprising. In 1933 a public controversy broke out between Plunkett and MacNeill, who totally denied having had anything to do with Plunkett’s mission in Rome. The whole episode remains a mystery. But it would beggar belief that a papal knight and a devout Catholic as Plunkett would have lied or deliberately misled the pope.56


  In the meantime Captain Spindler and the Aud were approaching the Irish coast. Spindler had been spotted a few times by the royal navy but, to his greatest surprise, the British let him pass. In his memoirs he wrote: ‘Our luck in this respect began to seem a little uncanny. Could there be something behind it? Did the British know about our coming?’57 The answers to Spindler’s questions are ‘yes’. Captain Hall and room 40 had decoded the messages between New York and Berlin and deliberately chose not to inform the British authorities lest they should betray to the Germans that they had cracked their codes. Hall also believed that, if a rising occurred, it would be a golden opportunity for the British army to get rid once and for all of the Irish republicans who were badly equipped in arms.58 In other words, the security risk would be minimal. It is known that Hall did warn Admiral Bayly in Queenstown, who patiently waited for the Aud to show up.59 If Bayly had been warned it is most unlikely that somebody like Lord French had not been. It would have been totally irresponsible of Hall not to have warned the commander in chief of the home forces. As noted above, French would have welcomed the opportunity to give the Irish Volunteers ‘a real good “knock”’. But there is no evidence to substantiate this theory and some people had a rather poor opinion of French after his handling of the British Expeditionary Force in France.60 Furthermore, Hall tended to act as a maverick.61 Spindler arrived in Tralee Bay on Thursday 20 April, but as Volunteer planning had gone awfully wrong, nobody came to collect the arms. He decided to leave the next day lest he should be spotted by the British. The royal navy, however, caught him on Saturday. Casement arrived on Friday by submarine, but was caught almost on arrival. He was immediately transferred to London, where, on Sunday 23 April, he was interrogated by Hall in person.62 Casement pleaded to be allowed to contact some people in Dublin to cancel the Rising, but Hall refused. According to Casement, he even said: ‘It is better that a cankering sore like this should be cut out.’63


  There is no reason not to believe Casement as it all makes perfect sense. As is well known, due to MacNeill’s last minute intervention, the Rising eventually began on Monday 24 April. On that day also, the German supreme army command called off its submarine campaign against Britain as the Americans had protested.64 There was no need to upset the Americans, all the more since, theoretically, the Irish republicans should be fighting by now. The Irish phase of Verdun had begun. The Easter Rising lasted until Saturday 29 April when Pearse and the republican soldiers surrendered to the British forces. It caused about 450 deaths, 2,600 wounded, and the destruction of Dublin city centre.65 In May General Sir John Maxwell and his courts martial had the republican leaders shot; Casement would be hanged in August. This upset the population but also shocked Prime Minister Herbert Asquith who informed French that he was ‘a little surprised and perturbed by the drastic action of shooting so many of the rebel leaders’. French warned Maxwell about Asquith’s reservations but added that he personally would not interfere with his freedom of action.66 Again, French’s remark makes perfect sense if he had been informed by Hall or simply if he saw the execution of republican leaders as a perfect way to rid Ireland of disloyal elements.


  But how had the French and the Austro-Hungarians reacted to the Rising in Dublin? Colonel Artus de la Panouse, the French military attaché in London, reported that it was obvious that Germany’s plan was to divert more British troops to Ireland, troops that would be better used on the front line. He also wrote that Sir Edward Carson had to bear some of the responsibility as it was he who had introduced the fashion of smuggling German arms into the country.67 On 19 June 1916 he sent a report to General Joseph Joffre, the commander in chief of the French army. About the republican leaders, de la Panouse wrote: ‘All those who took part in the [Rising] … showed real courage during their court martial and also when about to die.’ After this military tribute, he said that the British 59th division was now occupying Ireland whereas it should have been sent to France. This was bad news for Joffre who was planning, with General Douglas Haig, an offensive on the Somme, due to begin shortly, in order to relieve Verdun.68


  In Austria-Hungary the news of the Rising was greeted with satisfaction and glee by the press. This was no surprise as the ‘hunger blockade’ imposed by the royal navy in the north and the Italians in the south was having dreadful effects.69 In Vienna the conservative Reichspost wrote that the Irish people had ceased to support John Redmond’s policy of reconciliation between the Irish and the British. It also made a comparison between the present British ‘hunger blockade’ and the Great Famine in Ireland: ‘England’s war of starvation plan … has not been invented for the first time by British rulers. It was already used by [English royal] dynasties with cold calculation against the Irish.’70 In Budapest the liberal Pester Lloyd opined: ‘In this war, liberal England has had the dubious honour to have had to put down a long and well-prepared rising … Not in fermenting Russia, not in the polyglot Austro-Hungarian monarchy did the revolution flare up, but in liberal England who lets herself be called the defender of small nations.’71


  It was, of course, in Germany that news of the Rising was most eagerly awaited. Once the seriousness of the fighting in Dublin became known in Berlin, mainly through the reports of an agent codenamed W.29d (which were forwarded to spymaster Walter Nicolai), the German secret service conceived a disinformation and scaremongering campaign directed against the Allies.72 The operation took place in Berne in Switzerland on 29 April. A double agent, pretending to work for France, contacted the French embassy and handed over a bogus report containing information he had gathered in Germany. The report was a clever mixture of true facts and lies. Among other things, it described the preparations for the Rising and stated that ‘Casement was assured by the German government that he would get twenty million shillings if it succeeded’. The impression the report wanted to give was Germany’s total commitment to the Irish cause and that her navy was able to reach the Irish coast whenever it wanted. Although this cannot be substantiated, Nicolai was probably behind the operation. But French military intelligence knew that the spy was, in fact, working for Germany and was not duped. It is not known whether the French informed the British about this German operation, but General Joffre’s headquarters were kept up to date.73


  As early as 6 May 1916 Ambassador Bernstorff sent a coded message to Berlin, explaining that he had been approached by Irish-American leaders who wanted support for a new rising. On 11 June the general staff answered: ‘Fundamentally willing to give further support to the Irish by all means. Request for speedy information concerning nature, timeframe and size of needed help.’74 It was not surprising that the Germans showed so much eagerness. The Rising had failed but it had shown that the Irish republicans meant business. During the following months the admiralty and the general staff put together a plan codenamed Aufgabe P . The support envisaged was three times more important than the one for the Easter Rising: 60,000 rifles, 20 machine guns and 12,000,000 rounds of ammunition. The sending of soldiers was initially planned but was eventually abandoned. Two steamers would deliver the arms in Galway and Tralee harbours. They would be accompanied by submarines to prevent the royal navy from approaching. The date set for the landing was 21 February 1917. Despite the naval battle of Jutland, which had taken place on 31 May 1916 and which had shown that the German navy would not be able to break the blockade of the royal navy in the North Sea, the German admiralty was convinced that the steamers could reach Ireland undetected during the long winter nights, under cover of fog and with the help of storms.75 Of course Captain Spindler’s Aud had shown that such a voyage was feasible after all. The Germans, moreover, still did not know that room 40 was busy decoding their messages.


  On 24 December 1916 Ambassador Bernstorff and John Devoy were informed of Aufgabe P .76 Interestingly, this new German departure was once again associated with a renewal of unrestricted submarine warfare, which was to begin on 1 February 1917.77 The Germans were ready to go when, on 16 January 1917, Bernstorff sent a message cancelling the whole operation.78 What had happened? After the Easter Rising, John Devoy was corresponding with an Irish Volunteer called Liam Clarke, who was trying to re-organise the Volunteer movement. In one of his messages Clarke emphatically stated that, if a second rising was to take place, the Germans had to send not only arms but also men. Clarke also wrote that some republicans had been dissatisfied with the German help during the Easter Rising.79 Since the general staff had decided not to send soldiers, Devoy sent a coded message to Berlin outlining the reasons why Aufgabe P had to be cancelled.80


  But it was not the end of the story yet. As the archives in the Public Record Office in London show, room 40 had intercepted and decoded the messages regarding Aufgabe P , including the one that cancelled the operation. Once again, this was a golden opportunity to get rid of disloyal elements in Ireland and keep the republican movement decapitated. On 17 February 1917 Dublin Castle was warned and a list of about thirty republicans and republican sympathisers was drawn up. These men were arrested on 21 February, the night the Germans were supposed to come. Among them were Terence MacSwiney, Dr Patrick McCartan, Darrel Figgis, Seán T. O’Kelly and J.J. O’Kelly. There was nothing that proved their involvement in Aufgabe P and Liam Clarke was not on the list.81 As Dr Brian Murphy has written: ‘[The men] … were given a sharp reminder that ultimate power lay with the British government.’82 But, above all, what the Aufgabe P episode does prove, beyond any doubt, is the truth of the theory put forward by Professor Eunan O’Halpin in 1984, namely that Captain Reginald Hall intentionally let the Easter Rising happen.83 Indeed, the British approach to the Easter Rising and to Aufgabe P is essentially the same.


  The saga had a last, somehow amusing, twist. On 21 March, in the House of Commons in London, the independent nationalist parliamentarian Laurence Ginnell asked the home secretary under what conditions the arrested Irishmen were detained. What Ginnell ignored, however, was that General Bryan Mahon wanted him, together with Count Plunkett and Father Michael Flanagan, to be arrested too! But, fearing adverse political repercussions, Ginnell, Plunkett and Flanagan had been let off the hook.84


  Finally, Professor Stewart’s assertion that the Irish home rule crisis played a role in the events leading to the outbreak of the First World War is totally founded. The Irish factor in German and Austro-Hungarian decision-making was an important one as both Germans and Austro-Hungarians deemed that it would in all likelihood prevent the British from entering a wide-scale conflict in Europe. Their mistake was dreadful. The combination of the Serbian crisis in central Europe and the Irish crisis in western Europe was lethal. Also, there can be no longer any doubt that some British officials at the highest level let the Easter Rising deliberately happen. We know the name of at least one man involved, Captain Reginald Hall, and the name of another man who was warned, Admiral Bayly. But they cannot have been the only ones. It would seem rather obvious that some people in the army were also involved. These facts ultimately lead to the question: who was responsible for the outbreak of the Easter Rising? It might well be argued that Hall had little choice in the matter as he wanted to protect his extremely valuable source of information. Arresting Pádraig Pearse and others before the Rising took place might have revealed to the Germans that something was wrong with their codes. But could those 450 deaths, 2,600 wounded and the destruction of Dublin city centre not have been avoided? Did Reginald Hall and Foreign Office Secretary Arthur Balfour not work out a clever way of keeping from the Germans the fact that they had intercepted and decoded the famous Zimmermann telegram in February 1917, in which the Germans promised their help to Mexico if she went to war against the United States?85 On that occasion nobody was either killed or wounded. If the Military Council initiated the Easter Rising and therefore bore a great responsibility, can it not be argued that some British officials bore a greater responsibility still for letting it happen?


  THE ULSTER CRISIS: PRELUDE TO 1916?


  
    _______________

  


  D.G. Boyce


  Two images dominate historical memory of the Ulster crisis of 1912–14, as seen in the grainy, black and white film of the time: the Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF) marching and drilling; and the Irish Volunteers looking equally resolute. They seem to bear witness to the militarisation of Ireland and the readiness to resort to armed force by unionists and then nationalists; and thus point towards the Easter Rising because, as Eoin MacNeill wrote in his memoirs, Sir Edward Carson exercised one of the most influential effects on the Irish revolution when he exploited British laws in Ireland through the creation of the UVF. Now the British army could not be used to prevent the enrolment and drilling of Volunteers in any part of the twenty eight [sic] counties. Yet there are more important issues to be explored which arise from the pre-war Ulster crisis. MacNeill went on to declare that the Irish Volunteers represented citizen forces which would rival the UVF claim to hold Ireland ‘for the empire’.1 Pádraig Pearse, at the Rotunda meeting where the Irish Volunteers were founded, would go no further than to claim that ‘Ireland armed would at any rate make a better bargain with the empire than Ireland unarmed’.2 And there was a significant interlude, between the outbreak of the great European war in August 1914 and the Easter Rising of April 1916, when history seemed about to move in a different direction, with nationalist Volunteers and Ulster Volunteers serving in the same army and in the same uniform, though mutual suspicions remained.


  MacNeill’s claim that Carson was unwittingly the originator of the Easter Rising and the revolution that followed must be explored. The passing of the Parliament Act of 1911 meant that the British House of Commons could override the House of Lords by passing identical legislation in three successive sessions, provided that two years elapsed between the second and third readings; thus, in the ordinary run of things and parliamentary opposition notwithstanding, the 1912 home rule bill would have become law in any event by 1914. This constitutional change meant that the controversy – and possibly crisis – over the bill would be a prolonged one.


  Moreover, the Parliament Act specified that bills must be introduced in the last two circuits in precisely the same form as they left the Commons the first time. Committee and report stages were dispensed with, since Commons’ amendments were not allowed. The Parliament Act authorised the Commons to ‘suggest’ amendments to the House of Lords, but the Liberal Prime Minister, H.H. Asquith, insisted that any such ‘suggestions’ must not destroy the identity of the bill. As the Conservative leader, Andrew Bonar Law, pointed out, the opposition could debate the bill, but were not allowed to alter a single line.3


  Two further complications were embedded in the bill’s passage through parliament. The general election of November 1910 resulted in the Liberal government being returned to power, but with 272 seats, exactly the same number as the unionists. Labour won forty two seats and the Irish party eighty four. Thus the Liberals depended heavily on the Irish nationalist vote in the House of Commons, though they knew that the nationalists likewise depended on them, since the Irish party was unlikely to want to vote out a Liberal government and replace it with a unionist one. The second dilemma was a peculiarly Liberal one. The government was not unaware of the Ulster unionist difficulty, and as early as February 1912, two months before the bill was introduced in the Commons, Lloyd George and Winston Churchill formally proposed in cabinet that Ulster, or those counties in which Protestants were in a clear majority, should be given an option to contract out of the home rule bill as introduced. The question for the government was: if such a concession were offered, at what stage should the offer be made? Would it be tactically most opportune to make it at the outset; withheld as a concession to be made later; inserted as an amendment to the bill; or indeed made at all? The Gladstonian tradition was that Ireland should be treated as a unit for the purpose of self-government – as Asquith re-affirmed in the first reading, ‘Mr Gladstone’s position is strongly fortified by our later experience.’4 Ulster unionists, however, were adamant that this would place them under the heels of their traditional enemies and that they ought not be coerced into living under a system of government that they feared and detested.


  Victorian Liberal thinking was primarily concerned with protecting the rights of individuals rather than distinct communities, and the 1912 bill specifically denied the right of the proposed devolved legislature to ‘establish or endow any religion or prohibit the free exercise, or to give a preference, privilege, or advantage, or impose any disability or disadvantage, on account of religious belief ’.5 But this was of no comfort to Ulster unionists, who saw themselves as a distinct people, loyal men and women, holding their province for Britain and the empire. The unionist opposition accused the government of turning the House of Commons into a ‘market-place where everything is bought and sold’. This very unparliamentary language – what Asquith called the ‘new style’ – branded the unionist opposition as both irresponsible and dangerous.6 It also seemed to confirm that the whole Ulster crisis was one manufactured by the unionists for their own selfish political ends: thus, once again, nationalists could claim that the divisions in Ireland between unionist and nationalist were the fault of obdurate British politicians, and need not be addressed within Ireland itself.


  Later generations of nationalists – and some contemporary nationalist thinkers such as Sinn Féin’s founder, Arthur Griffith – professed astonishment that a modest measure of devolution should occasion such a fervent protest from unionists in Britain and Ireland. But apart from the belief (propagated by nationalists themselves since 1886) that home rule offered ‘freedom’ and ‘independence’, the 1912 bill was a serious measure of self-rule. It was true that the Westminster parliament was to remain sovereign, and that it retained unimpaired authority over questions of peace and war, treaties, the levying of customs duties, coinage, postal services and, for six years, the Royal Irish Constabulary. The Irish parliament could not endow religion or impose religious disabilities. It had limited taxation powers, and could not add more than 10 per cent to the rate of income tax or death duties. Irish membership of the House of Commons was to be reduced from 103 to 42, though the 42 could speak on all subjects, and were not confined to contributing to debates on subjects affecting Ireland alone.7 But the key point in the bill was not its definition of the powers of the Irish parliament, but its lack of definition: for the new parliament could make laws for the ‘peace, order and good government of Ireland’. This left a large and unlimited scope for the parliament to enhance its powers, in an age when states across Europe were embarking on social policies that would significantly increase their legislative output and executive control.


  There can be no doubt that the crisis over the 1912 home rule bill did mark a significant change in the Irish political climate. This was the third such bill to be placed before the British parliament. Those of 1886 and 1893 occasioned heated opposition from British and Irish unionists alike, but the grave threats to Irish Protestants, and especially to Ulster Protestants, were not met by any serious armed opposition. There was plenty of fighting talk, but that was all. In June 1892 at a great unionist convention in Belfast, one speaker proclaimed ‘firm and unchangeable determination of the people of Ulster to resist by constitutional means and, if need be, by force the passing of the home rule bill into law’. Another, neatly adopting Gladstone’s phrase when he declared his determination to resist agrarian violence in Ireland in the early 1880s, warned that the resources of civilisation were not yet exhausted; but when they were, ‘it remained for them, as loyal sons of sires agone, to find out how they might resist the resolution of the imperial parliament to hand them neck and heel to a tyranny that was beyond the conception of the English elsewhere’.8 But the Irish Times noted that the speeches at the convention contained ‘no threat, no boast, no bluster. The purpose was that more than a million of the people of Ireland should say simply no.’9 Alvin Jackson has explained that, because unionism had only a generally narrow and inadequate constituency base, with few pressure groups beyond the Orange Order able to claim a mass membership (and virtually none long surviving the defeat of the second home rule bill), unionism was for all practical purposes a parliamentary movement, and it was to MPs in the House of Commons that northern Protestants looked for political redress or personal advancement.10


  Yet twenty years later words were replaced, or perhaps reinforced, by deeds; and the proceedings of the British parliament became increasingly irrelevant to the clash of ideologies in Ireland itself. What was described as potentially a matter of life and death in 1892 was now indeed a matter of life and death in 1912, since the home rule bill must pass into law. Moreover, the Ulster unionists had, by 1912, provided themselves with their own organisation, the Ulster Unionist Council, which held its first meeting in March 1905, and which offered a more representative and permanent body for Ulster Protestants, as well as a more narrowly focused political perspective.11 The Irish unionist parliamentary party was now looking more like a first – or, in due course, a second – amongst equals, rather than the representative of general unionist opinion. The increasingly particularist outlook of Ulster unionists was reflected in their decision in September 1911 to set up a provisional government for Ulster should the home rule bill become law. Ulster unionists were glad to have British unionist support for their stand against home rule, but it was not their only, nor indeed their main, pillar of resistance.


  This resistance took a more ominous shape when, as early as 1910 and on local initiative on the part of Orange Order lodges, volunteers offered themselves as defenders of the Union. Although Sir Edward Carson and Sir James Craig welcomed the UVF, they played no part in the organisation’s day-to-day running; this was indeed a new departure in unionism.12 Institutions, however, expressed but did not create the Ulster unionist mood of 1912. A new generation of political leaders had emerged, new men, Edwardians like James Craig and Fred Crawford, who found a militant stand more congenial than had their forebears. The importance of the South African war of 1899–1902, which introduced a spirit of militant patriotism in Great Britain and worked the same spell in Ireland, should not be underestimated. It occasioned the formation of Volunteer forces, comprising civilian soldiers who had not engaged in warfare before 1899. One such force was the City of London Imperial Volunteers, in which the later Irish republican Erskine Childers enlisted ‘to do something for one’s country’.13 And the early debacles in the campaign against the Boers gave new impetus to the idea of military conscription in the United Kingdom, which was almost unheard of before then. Tunes of glory were being played all over the British Isles. Irish nationalists, for their part, insisted that they held common cause with the Afrikaaners, and would indeed themselves resort to arms if such an option were likely to succeed, which they conceded it was not, at least for the foreseeable future.14


  The crisis over the third home rule bill raised political, constitutional and even moral issues which, the Ulster unionists claimed, justified a resort to force of arms. These were stated in ‘Ulster’s Solemn League and Covenant’ which thousands of Protestants signed in September 1912. ‘Being convinced in our consciences’, the signatories pledged themselves to use all means necessary to defeat a conspiracy which, they believed, would be disastrous to Ulster’s and Ireland’s material well-being, destructive of Protestants’ civil and religious liberty, and perilous to the unity of the empire. Bonar Law declared in the House of Commons in June 1912 that the Liberal government ‘are putting themselves in a position from which they cannot recede … That means that they know that if Ulster is in earnest, if Ulster does resist, there are things stronger than parliamentary majorities. They know that in that case no government would dare to use British troops to drive them out.’15 It was equally true, however, that if Ulster unionists were in earnest, they too might put themselves in a position from which they could not recede; and the use of troops, and their willingness to be employed as an instrument of force, was not – as yet – in any doubt.


  Ulster and southern Irish unionist fears about the real character of Irish nationalism were perhaps reinforced by new forces that were stirring at the turn of the century. The Gaelic League, founded in 1893 with the aim of ‘de-anglicising Ireland’, and bringing to a point earlier nationalist ideas that there was a distinct gaelic nation, or even race, suggested that those who did not belong to that race or nation might be treated as foreigners, uncomfortable interlopers in a country to which they did not ‘really’ belong. This, it must be stressed, was not the purpose of the league’s founder, Douglas Hyde, himself a Protestant, who sought to use language to overcome Irish religious divisions. But this noble idea was diluted by those who saw the league as a means of furthering the separatist cause, or as a way of excluding those who did not ‘belong’. The determined efforts by the Catholic church to infiltrate and guide the league, as it did other kinds of pressure groups and organisations, was likewise an uncomfortable sight. Paul Bew has demonstrated that unionists had fears about the Irish language under home rule; for example, at the committee stage of the home rule bill in October 1912 unionists moved an amendment with the aim of preventing an Irish parliament making Irish a qualification for holding public appointments,16 though the first occupant of the chair of Irish in Queen’s University Belfast in 1909 was an Anglican clergyman, the Reverend F.W. O’Connell.17


  Religious divisions remained the bedrock of Irish politics. For Ulster Protestants the enemy was, as it had been since 1886 (and indeed since the 1830s and 1840s, when ‘the Liberator’, Daniel O’Connell, roamed the Ulster border area), the Catholic majority in Ireland, which carried its own potent ideological mixture of religion, grievance, and desire to reverse history’s verdict that Protestants would be up, and they, the Catholics, would be down. This ideology accommodated the home rule movement as comfortably as more radical nationalism: the men of ’98 were as much the property of Redmond and his followers (especially his followers) as they had been of Parnell and his, and the new Sinn Féin party and its. The Irish party did not, in principle, rule out the use of force to achieve freedom.18


  Ulster unionists did not need new foes, gaelic or otherwise, in the period 1912–14; they felt they had enemies enough. On Ulster Covenant day Dr William McKeon, former moderator of the Presbyterian church, claimed that:


  
    We are plain, blunt men who love peace and industry. The Irish Question is at bottom a war against Protestantism; it is an attempt to establish a Roman Catholic ascendancy in Ireland to begin the disintegration of the empire by securing a second [sic] parliament in Dublin.19

  


  Between 1898 and 1902 there appeared ominous signs of Roman Catholic ‘triumphalism’. The Ancient Order of Hibernians, a kind of Catholic mirror image of the Protestant Orange Order, was founded in 1898; a ‘Catholic Association’ in 1902. Then in 1908 the papacy promulgated the Ne temere decree which laid down regulations for bringing up children in marriages in which one of the partners was a non-Catholic. This soon made its impact on Ulster life, when, in 1910, a Mrs McCann, a Presbyterian married to a Roman Catholic, in a union in which each attended their own church, found herself the centre of controversy. It was claimed that Mr McCann’s priest visited their home to tell the couple that their marriage was invalid according to the Ne Temere decree, and that they must re-marry in a Roman Catholic ceremony. It was alleged that Mrs McCann’s husband began to ill-treat her, and that he made off with the children (and the furniture), leaving her destitute. Her minister, a Mr Corkey, claimed that the incident demonstrated the ‘cruel punishment’ which the Roman Catholic church was ready to inflict on any member of the Protestant faith ‘over whom she gets any power’.20 There were some doubts about the details of the case, but in the febrile atmosphere of Ulster’s religion and politics, it provided a rallying cry for Protestants, and pushed the Protestant churches (not always well-disposed towards each other) together, in a way that foreshadowed the solidarity with which they confronted home rule. The Presbyterians, repositories of Ulster radicalism in days gone by, were the first to mobilise, warning in a convention on 1 February 1912 that ‘our civil and religious liberties would be gravely imperiled’. On Ulster day, when the covenant was signed, St John Ervine (unionist in politics but a leading light in the Irish literary revival) wrote that ‘Belfast suspended all its labours and became a place of prayer.’21


  Out of this political/religious atmosphere came the rational and moral argument that a body of British citizens, utterly opposed to a measure which threatened to deprive them of their citizenship, had the right to resist an unjust law by force. When Lord Milner was canvassing for signatures to a British covenant on the lines of Ulster’s Solemn League and Covenant, he asked: ‘When before, in our lifetime, have thousands upon thousands of sober steady-going citizens deliberately contemplated resistance to an Act of Parliament, because they were sincerely convinced that it was devoid of all moral sanction?’ There were a great many people who still entirely failed to realise ‘what the strength of our feeling is on this subject. They think it is just an ordinary case of opposition to a political measure, a move in the party-game.’ This might be true of many unionists, ‘but there is certainly a large body, who feel that the crisis altogether transcends anything in their previous experience, and calls for action, which is different, not only in degree, but in kind, from what is appropriate to ordinary political controversies.’22


  This line of argument offered a more palatable reason for resistance than the narrow ground of Catholic/Protestant enmity. It attracted the support, though conditional support, of the eminent Vinerian Professor of English Law in Oxford university, A.V. Dicey. Dicey, a most forceful opponent of Irish home rule since 1886, cited the example of Lord Hartington, who asked: did not Ulster unionists have the right to resist home rule as James II had been resisted by England and Protestant Ireland in 1688–90, especially if home rule was to be imposed by force? Dicey described this as an ‘old Whig doctrine’ that oppression and especially resistance to the will of the nation ‘might justify what was technically conspiracy or rebellion’. But he insisted that the Ulster unionists should offer only moral resistance, which might endure for a year or a year and a half after home rule became law; this would be ‘fully justified’. Unionist resistance should be ‘conducted with extreme attention to the preservation of order’. In July 1912 he reiterated his concern that Ulster’s resistance must be passive; but he feared that Ulster unionists would not have the ‘self-control necessary for carrying out the very difficult policy of passive resistance within the limits of the law, tho’ I believe it would be successful’. Even in the case of oppression with which Ulster was menaced, ‘no loyal citizen should, until all possibilities of legal resistance is exhausted, have recourse to the use of arms’.23


  Ulster unionists gave notice of their determination to by-pass this suggested era of passive resistance on 24–5 April 1914, when they carried out a daring gun-running adventure at the port of Larne, landing 25,000 rifles and 3,000,000 rounds of ammunition. The possibility of moral resistance was further endangered by the character of the UVF, which began as a ‘bottom up rather than top down’ unit in many areas; their activities might, especially in time of increased tension, be hard to control.24 Thus the commanding officer of the 2nd battalion, South Down regiment, Roger Hall, issued orders that Volunteers were ‘not to mix themselves up in riots or street fights unless to protect themselves or other Protestants, who may be assaulted, or when called upon by the police to assist them’. The police were to deal with ‘ordinary rowdyism, and Volunteers were not to interfere’ unless the police found themselves ‘unable to cope with the disturbance and call for help’. No rifles or revolvers were to be used ‘until the last extremity’ and indiscriminate revolver firing was ‘strictly forbidden’. Revolvers were not authorised in the UVF and any Volunteer carrying one ‘does so on his own responsibility, and must take the consequences if arrested’.25


  Hall was harking back to the Volunteer movement of the late eighteenth century, when the Irish Volunteers (almost exclusively Protestant) were deployed on law and order tasks, as well as defying the British government. But the question was what would happen if the Liberal government of 1914 sought to assert its authority by deploying the British army against the UVF (which the British government of the 1770s had not done). The unionist peer, the Earl of Selborne, who enjoyed cordial relations with several senior Liberals, warned that if the government attempted to ‘crush Ulster with the army and fleet’, then Ulster’s resistance ‘would take all the forms, with which we are familiar in the history of such cases, some heroic and some hideous’. ‘Russian methods’ must fail.26 Dicey took the ominous, and probably accurate, view that if the shooting began, ‘British soldiers will, in any case, do their duty, and not forget that the primary duty of the soldier is obedience to lawful orders.’27


  It was hard for any British government, not least a Liberal government, to weigh up the consequences of using force to crush Ulster unionist resistance. There was, as so often in politics, a balance of evils to be assessed. What confounded the Liberals was their bungled attempt, not to crush, but perhaps overawe the UVF in March 1914, when it was still a poorly armed organisation. On 14 March 1914 Winston Churchill warned in a speech in Bradford that it was time ‘to go forward and put these grave matters to the proof ’.28 On the same day the war office wrote to Lieutenant General Sir Arthur Paget (commander in chief in Ireland) that ‘evil-disposed persons’ may try ‘to obtain possession of arms, ammunition and other government stores’. Steps must be taken to safeguard depots in the north, but also in the south of Ireland.29 At a meeting on 19 March at which Winston Churchill and Augustine Birrell, the chief secretary for Ireland, were present, Paget was told that the third battle squadron of the royal navy was to be sent to Lamlash in Scotland ‘in order to be available if required’.30 Paget was concerned about the impact of sudden troop movements in the middle of a political crisis and on 20 March gave the impression to his senior officers that the army might soon engage the UVF, in which case Ireland might be ‘ablaze by Saturday, and would lead to something more serious than quelling of local disturbances’. He said that the war office had authorised him to inform officers domiciled in Ulster that they might be excused duties, and permitted to ‘disappear’ from Ireland, but others would not be thus permitted to choose whether or not they would obey orders. Brigadier General Sir Hubert Gough admitted that he could not claim exemption as a resident of Ulster, but added that ‘on account of birth and upbringing, and many friendships, he did not see how he could bear arms against the Ulster loyalists, and that, if he did take up arms against them, he could never face his friends again.’


  Fifty seven out of seventy officers of the third cavalry brigade at the Curragh camp responded that, if their duty involved the initiation of active military operations against Ulster, they would chose dismissal.31 When Gough and three senior commanders went to London to meet Seely (the secretary for war) the following Sunday, the minister acknowledged in writing that the government had no intention of using the armed forces to ‘coerce Ulster’.32 This concession was withdrawn by the government and Seely resigned on 25 March, but the episode cost the government its credibility, and opened it to Law’s censure that there had been a ‘plot against Ulster’.33 There is no evidence for this, but it is hard to explain the sudden lurch towards ‘precautionary’ movements on 14 March, since the Ulster crisis was no worse then than it had been before that date; perhaps government ministers did not so much plot against Ulster as bluff against Ulster.


  Whatever the official motives, Ulster unionists rejoiced at the failure of the ‘plot’. Paramilitary organisations could act, it seemed, with impunity. But nationalist suspicions at the partiality of the official and military response to the UVF was shown when, on 26 July 1914, the Irish Volunteers emulated the UVF and landed guns and ammunition at Howth, near Dublin, but this time openly and in daylight. Clumsy efforts by the police and then the army to intercept and disarm the Volunteers resulted in soldiers opening fire on civilians who were goading them, resulting in the death of three people and the wounding of thirty eight.


  While these dramatic events unfolded, efforts were being made between government and opposition to reach some kind of compromise that would save John Redmond’s face and prove acceptable to the unionists, British, Ulster and Irish. Given that so many parties had to be satisfied, it is hardly surprising that the prospects were not good. Law, for his part, was not hankering after civil war; his belief was that, as he wrote to Dicey in June 1913, ‘the best chance of avoiding civil war, or something like it, is to convince ministers that we are in earnest.’34 But this desire to show earnestness drove him into dangerous waters, including the idea of amending the annual Army Act, which was passed to legalise the existence of the armed forces for the next twelve months (this again was a legacy of the seventeenth century ‘Glorious Revolution’ and King James II’s determination to use the army to fight for his throne). The unionist leadership discussed this in 1912, and again in 1913, with the intention of amending it to prevent the use of troops to coerce Ulster, but finally abandoned the plan in March 1914 when, indeed, the Curragh episode made it redundant.35 Carson spoke the language of rebellion, but feared the outcome if matters were put to the proof.36 Sir James Craig, for the Ulster unionists, went on with his preparations for such an event. Southern Irish unionists looked with alarm on the efforts being made by all sides to find a compromise, for these became more focused on the expedient of finding some special treatment for Ulster, or part of it, and abandoning the rest of Ireland to home rule. Not all British unionists were satisfied with seeking a compromise of the Union in the form of special treatment for Ulster unionists. Irish home rulers were uneasy about what concessions might be demanded of them in order to disarm Ulster unionist resistance. They had also the substantial Catholic population in Ulster to consider.


  The Liberal government, seeking to find a compromise, was obliged to put pressure on John Redmond on the Ulster issue, for where else was compromise to come from? A survey of the attempts made to offer special treatment for Ulster, with some form of exclusion from the home rule bill for some period of time, and for some area of the province, shows how the Liberals were retreating from the Gladstonian tradition of seeing Ireland as the unit of devolution, with safeguards for individuals, to one that saw Ulster or perhaps four or six counties of it, as a bloc to be excluded. On 9 March 1914 Asquith proposed an amendment to the home rule bill that would allow the electorate of each Ulster county, with Belfast and Londonderry, to vote whether it wished to opt out of home rule for six years. The time limit was fixed so that before it expired the electors of the United Kingdom would have been twice consulted (i.e. not later than December 1915 and not later than December 1920); and if it ratified the inclusion of the excluded counties, then Ulster should have no cause for resistance. In June 1914 an amending bill offering ‘county option’ for six years was introduced in the House of Lords by Lord Crewe, but the peers rejected it and voted instead for the permanent exclusion of the whole of Ulster. On July 21–4 a conference held at Buckingham palace between the party leaders failed to find a way out of the dilemma: Redmond would go no further than county option, which meant the exclusion of four Ulster counties; Law wanted six; Carson demanded the ‘clean cut’ of the whole province of Ulster. Asquith was prepared to give way on the time limit for exclusion, but suggested leaving out of the bill south Tyrone, north Fermanagh and the four north eastern counties, except for south Armagh. This was unacceptable to both unionists and nationalists.37


  United Kingdom participation in the European war on 4 August forced the issue. John Redmond used all his influence, such as it was, with the government to oblige it to pass the home rule bill.38 In any event Asquith could hardly take the country into war with the Irish and Ulster questions utterly unresolved. His compromise was that the home rule bill be placed on the statute book, but accompanied by a suspensory Act ‘for twelve months or such later date (not being later than the end of the present war) as may be fixed by His Majesty by Order in Council.’ He promised an amending bill dealing with the Ulster question, and when the bill was given formal assent on 18 September Asquith conceded that the coercion of unionist Ulster was an ‘absolutely unthinkable thing’.39


  The war worked immediate changes on the Irish political scene. In a sense it marked a closure of the Ulster crisis, for within a short time Carson and Redmond respectively pledged the Ulster and the Irish Volunteers to the British war effort. In so doing both made concessions. Carson had hoped in August 1914 to pledge the UVF to the British side, with two battalions to be sent abroad, but only if the home rule bill were postponed.40 But when the government pressed on with its bill (much to the disgust of British unionists) Carson, a thorough-going imperial patriot, could hardly stand over his demand. Redmond came best out of the last stages of the bill, because he had after all gained what not even the great Parnell sought – a home rule measure on the statute book. Furthermore, by urging the Irish Volunteers to ‘take their place in the firing line in this contest’ he had (as one of his severest critics William O’Brien acknowledged) made the best possible use of the Volunteers: ‘in fighting England’s battle in the particular circumstances of [the] war … they were fighting the most effective battle for Ireland’s liberty.’41


  Yet Redmond did not yet have his parliament; and if Irish nationalist disillusionment with the war were to surface, then he might be in an awkward position. But this is not to say that any such disillusionment would have seriously undermined Redmond’s position, though his very success in getting the home rule bill passed into law further reduced his room for manoeuvre. He could hardly refuse to help the war effort, especially as Ireland’s friends in the British empire (and Redmond had and valued such friends) were enthusiastic supporters of the British war effort. On the Ulster unionist side there is evidence that some at least believed that the UVF as the sharp edge of resistance was a spent force. Lord Dunleath of Co. Down, describing himself as ‘one of the Pioneers of the Volunteer Movement’, wrote to Carson on 9 March 1915 that the general idea in the minds of the men who promoted and organised this movement was to give as strong an expression as possible of their resolve to resist the policy of home rule. Speeches in and out of parliament, and monster demonstrations in Ulster, had apparently failed to interest the English and Scotch electors, or to concentrate their attention on the passionate abhorrence of home rule on the part of the Protestant population of Ireland and of the industrial inhabitants of Ulster.


  Thus it was the ‘plain duty of those of us who were possessed of influence to take some step, which would convince the government of the reality of our determination to resist this policy by every means in our power’. They had organised the Volunteers, gradually equipped and trained them into a fairly efficient force of volunteer infantry, and finally provided them with arms and ammunition. This had the desired effect of turning English and Scottish attention towards Ulster and had assisted, and would assist, her political leaders in the future. Until a few months ago ‘we found ourselves on the brink of a conflict with the armed forces of the Crown’. Now the war offered a favourable opportunity to reconsider ‘our position and future policy’. Dunleath claimed that ‘many of us are undoubtedly willing, if necessary, to risk our lives in defence of what we believe to be our rights and liberties, but I venture to think that an encounter with the armed forces of the Crown would inflict a serious injury upon our cause, and that every possible effort should be made to avoid the possibility of any calamity of this character.’


  He did not think ‘that our men are prepared to go into action against any part of His Majesty’s forces, and we [their leaders] should not consider ourselves justified in calling upon them to do so’.


  Dunleath understood that unionist politicians would like very much to be able to assert in their speeches that the Volunteers would undoubtedly come out and fight at the first attempt to administer the home rule Act, ‘but I venture to suggest a strong hope that this assertion will not be made or encouraged by the leaders of the unionist party’. He now fell back upon Dicey’s belief that the best way for unionists was to offer passive resistance, at least in the first instance (especially against paying taxes to the home rule parliament); if payment were enforced, the Volunteers would always be available to resist and ‘our men would like nothing better than to go out against the nationalists’. He concluded that ‘our political position as passive resisters, supported by a large body of armed Volunteers, should be a strong one – whereas if even a single British soldier or sailor was killed or wounded in Ulster, I am afraid that our future prospects would be extremely gloomy.’42


  This was to some extent put to the test in 1919 when, as the British government again took up the home rule burden, Carson threatened that he would ‘call out the Ulster Volunteers’ if there were any attempt to take away the rights of Ulstermen – a threat which prompted an angry response in the British press and in parliament. Government spokesmen defended Carson uneasily, with one Conservative MP dismissing Carson’s loyalty as ‘the loyalty of Shylock’.43


  It is unlikely that even the common experience of war would have overcome the ideological divide between Ulster unionist and Irish nationalist, though there were signs of a mutual acknowledgement of each other’s bravery in combat, and respect for each other in this momentous enterprise. Nevertheless, few would have predicted that at the war’s end the home rulers would be dismissed from the political landscape, and Ulster unionists left as the sole occupiers of the patriotic ground. Fewer still would have expected the separatist rebellion of Easter 1916. Contemporaries could not of course foresee that the Ulster unionist protest against home rule would in any way contribute to the Easter Rising; and for the historian this remains an intriguing question. The debate had an early start. Bulmer Hobson complained that ‘it seemed to the Irish people that the English desired to have it both ways and when they [the Irish] sought to enforce their national rights by the methods of Fenianism they were told to agitate constitutionally, and when they acted constitutionally they were met by methods of Fenianism.’44 Ronald McNeill, Lord Cushendun, acknowledged that the methods adopted by unionists might be said to contribute a ‘bad example’, though he thought them justifiable as the ‘lesser of two evils’. He added archly that ‘there was something humorous in the pretence put forward in 1923 and afterwards that the violence to which the adherents of Sinn Féin had recourse was merely copying Ulster. As if Irish nationalism in its extreme form required precedent for insurrection from Ulster.’45


  Some modern historians tend to agree with Bulmer Hobson. Jeremy Smith writes that:


  
    In organising themselves against home rule and exposing British governmental weakness, they [the UVF] encouraged nationalists to emulate their example … ‘The Orangeman who can fire a gun,’ Patrick Pearse wrote in 1913, ‘will certainly count for more in the end than the nationalist who can do nothing cleverer than make a pun.’ The seeds of events in Ireland over the following decade were clearly planted in the pre-war period.46

  


  Michael Laffan acknowledges that Bonar Law and Carson ‘were to be deeply shocked and repelled by much that happened in Ireland during the decade which followed their defiance of parliamentary government, but without their example the Irish revolution would not have come about’, and he quotes General Maxwell in June 1916: ‘The law was broken, and others broke the law with more or less success.’47


  This brings the historian into the fascinating but dubious realm of virtual history. We cannot know what would have happened had the Ulster and southern Irish unionists meekly accepted the home rule parliament which they believed threatened their lives and liberties in 1912–14; likewise we cannot know what would have happened had John Redmond meekly accepted that the Ulster unionist opposition was in earnest in its desire to resist Dublin rule, and abandoned his belief that Ireland, a nation pure and indivisible, must not be denied her birthright. What we do know is that Redmond’s leadership, indeed the whole character of the nationalism of his day, was regarded with increasing distaste by separatists, who from the early summer of 1915 planned their riposte – a rising, with German help, during the war. Michael Laffan remarks perceptively that ‘the Irish Volunteers’ popularity did not mean that Irish nationalists had been converted en masse to the idea of revolution’, which implies, to say the least, that a free choice lay in the hands of the separatists of 1916, and they resolved to take it.48


  But there is the question of the guns that were taken into Ireland in 1912–14. Ben Novick calculates that there were more than 66,000 rifles in Ireland in the hands of paramilitary organisations by March 1915, and if Ireland was not a country of guns in the nineteenth century, she quickly made up for that in the early twentieth.49 Guns are important; but so is the will and the opportunity to use them. Michael Wheatly’s analysis of provincial nationalist opinion reveals ‘a mass political mobilisation, militarism and a bellicosity of language unseen in recent times’.50 It is true that the overwhelming majority of the Irish Volunteers who declared they would use guns in 1913–14 did in the end do so: but in British army uniforms, against the Germans and the Turks. Paradoxically, the minority of Irish Volunteers who used them in Ireland in 1916 shouldered, not the best available weapons of the day, but a ‘grab-bag assortment of outdated weapons’.51 The key point was not the condition of the weapons they employed but the belief that the gun was indeed a keystone of liberty; and that belief, though never lost by separatists, and praised even by home rulers, was thrust to the forefront of Irish politics by the Ulster rebellion.


  If Ulster’s stand for union reinforced the 1916 rebels’ conviction that the rifle was the instrument of freedom, then it failed to direct their attention to what, in retrospect, seems like another, rather more obvious, conclusion. They completely ignored the implications of the Ulster crisis, and simplified Irish politics into an age-old confrontation between ‘England’ and ‘Ireland’. Their Proclamation insisted that all Irishmen and Irish-women owed allegiance to the Republic, now actually in being. It failed to recognise the existence, let alone the beliefs, of the Ulster unionists whose armed defiance of home rule Pearse professed to admire. Nearly five years after the Rising, on 21 September 1920, Lord Grey (who on 3 August 1914 described Ireland as ‘the one bright spot on the map of Europe’) set out a grim, but realistic, choice for Irish nationalists and Ulster unionists. ‘At present,’ he wrote, ‘Ulster wrecks anything that nationalist Ireland will accept: Sinn Fein clamours for a united Ireland and either willfully ignores the Ulster difficulty or says it is our business to see that the difficulty is overcome.’ Grey proposed to apply what he called the ‘coercion of facts, which both sides have hitherto declined to face’. Irishmen, he concluded, must choose between: ‘(1) compromise and agreement with each other; or (2) a divided Ireland; or (3) civil war’. Grey believed that when they understood the logic of the situation he had no doubt that they would choose the first of these courses.52 He was mistaken. And it seems not unreasonable to say that the partition of Ireland, unthinkable in the home rule episodes of 1886 and 1893, but emerging, painfully, as the possible base of some sort of compromise in 1913–14 was, after the Easter Rising, hard to avoid.


  
    ‘IRRECONCILABLE ENEMIES’ OR ‘FLESH

    AND BLOOD’? THE IRISH PARTY AND

    THE EASTER REBELS, 1914–16



  


  
    _______________________

  


  Michael Wheatley


  I


  The response of the Irish party to the Easter Rising was in one key respect unambiguous – the Rising was condemned and deplored. It was variously described as criminal, insane, politically stupid, a direct threat to home rule, hopelessly impractical, foolish or, using one of the most heavily-used words of the time, ‘misguided’. Criticism was still commonplace months after the Rising, expressed by speakers and writers right across the party, whether pledge-bound MPs in the parliamentary party or the large body of councillors, officers and activists who remained at the heart of the party’s mass affiliates, the United Irish League (UIL) and Ancient Order of Hibernians (AOH).


  Nevertheless, attitudes towards the rebels themselves were ambivalent. Certainly, the party’s leader, John Redmond, described them as ‘irreconcilable enemies’ who had made an ‘attempt to torpedo home rule and the Irish party’, but the dilemma faced by his party was acute.1 The rebels, for all the damage they had done, were nationalist Irishmen. According to the Longford Leader (owned by the party MP, J.P. Farrell), they were the constitutional movement’s ‘own flesh and blood’.2 Moreover, the Irish party remained proud of its Fenian antecedents and had for decades praised a long succession of rebels and martyrs to the cause. John Fitzgibbon MP (who had himself, like Farrell, been an imprisoned agitator) could well understand the ‘mental agonies’ of those arrested after the Rising: ‘These men can be consoled by the fact that they had in the past history of Ireland many comrades who suffered the same treatment, so that it is not to be wondered at.’3
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